

Georgia College **Knowledge Box**

Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) Translational and Clinical Research Projects

School of Nursing

Fall 12-13-2014

Implementation of Best Practices for Fall Prevention in a **Community Hospital**

Angela G. Jenkins-Jacobs angelajacobs2001@yahoo.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://kb.gcsu.edu/dnp



Part of the Nursing Commons

Recommended Citation

Jenkins-Jacobs, Angela G., "Implementation of Best Practices for Fall Prevention in a Community Hospital" (2014). Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) Translational and Clinical Research Projects. 3. https://kb.gcsu.edu/dnp/3

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Nursing at Knowledge Box. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) Translational and Clinical Research Projects by an authorized administrator of Knowledge Box.



Doctor of Nursing Practice Translational Research and Clinical Project Final Approval Form

Student Name: Angula Jacobs
Student Signature:
Committee Chair Name: Debbu Greene
Committee Chair Signature: Albert Druge
Committee Member Name: Teanac Sewell
Committee Member Signature: <u>Janu Savel</u>
Committee Member Name: Kray Brooks
Committee Member Signature:
Defense Date: 11 1/2/104

Running head: IMPLEMENTATION OF BEST PRACTICES

Implementation of Best Practices for Fall Prevention in a

Community Hospital

Angela Jenkins-Jacobs

Georgia College and State University

Committee Chair: Dr. Debbie Greene

Georgia College School of Nursing Committee Member: Jeanne Sewell MSN, RN

Outside Committee Member: Dr. Sarah Brooks

Dedication Page

I would like to give a special thank you to my wonderful family Terrell, Lauren, Tyler Jacobs and Chelsey Smith for their personal support and inspiration. I would also like to thank my mother Phyllis Trice-Garrison, son-in-law Jason Smith, Titus Jackson, George Johnson, Carol Brown, friends, South Georgia State College faculty, Georgia College faculty and my committee members who have been a source of support and encouragement during the completion of my scholarly project.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesvi
Abstractvii
Chapter 1: Background and Significance1
Setting2
History of Fall Prevention Practice3
Need for Project3
Challenges and Opportunities of the Project4
Project Purpose4
Clinical Questions5
Theoretical Framework5
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature7
Why Do Patients Fall?8
Measures to Assess Fall-risk10
Fall Prevention Interventions
Pharmaceutical Interventions12
Balance and Gait Interventions12
Cognitive Impairment Interventions13
Secondary Diagnosis14
History of Falling14
Environmental Assessment and Ambulatory Aids14
Nursing Expertise and Fall Prevention15
Best Practices for Fall Prevention16

	Summary	18
Chapte	er 3: Project Description	19
	Setting	19
	Design	19
	Participants	21
	Measurement Instruments	22
	Education Pre- and Post-test	23
	Fall Measures Audit Tool	23
	Fall Rate Calculation	25
	Data Collection	26
	Data Analysis	26
	Congruence of Organizations' Strategic Plan to Project	27
	Project Objectives	28
	Clinical Questions	29
Chapte	er 4: Results	29
	Phase 2	29
	Participant Characteristics	29
	Demographic Data	30
	Pre-test and Post-test Scores	30
	Phase 3	30
	Fall Prevention Program Compliance	30
	Fall Rate	32
Chante	er 5: Discussion	32

Methodological Assumptions	35
Limitations	36
Implications for Nursing	36
Implications for Health Care	36
Recommendations	37
Conclusion	37
References	39
Appendices	47
Appendix A: The Morse Fall Scale	47
Appendix B: Memorandum of Understanding	48
Appendix C: Informed Consent Form	49
Appendix D: Fall Measures Audit Tool	51
Tables	.,55
Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of Participants in Phase	55
Table 2: Paired t-test Results of Pre- and Post-test	56
Table 3: Chart and patient Room Audit Compliance Rate	.57
Table 4: Paired t-test Results of Pre- and Post-intervention Fall Rate	58

List of Tables

- Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of Participants in Phase
- Table 2: Paired t-test Results of Pre- and Post-test
- Table 3: Chart and patient Room Audit Compliance Rate
- Table 4: Paired t-test Results of Pre- and Post-intervention Fall Rate

Abstract

Prevention of inpatient falls remains a challenge for nurses. Despite fall prevention efforts by nurses, the rate of patient falls in the acute care setting is a major safety concern. The aim of this translational project is to implement an evidence-based fall prevention program at a small community hospital, based on the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions to decrease fall rates. Research indicates the best practices for nurses to manage patients at-risk for falls and using fall prevention strategies that will keep patients safe from falls during hospitalization. The three phases of this project, included development of the fall-risk program in the Paragon Electronic Medical Record, implementation of an educational intervention, measurement of program compliance and fall rate outcomes. The fall-risk program was effective in decreasing the fall rate from 1.4 to 0.0 falls per 1,000 patient days for two consecutive months after the implementation the educational intervention. Results from this project support the use of the Morse Fall Scale with evidence-based targeted interventions to decrease fall rates.

Keywords: falls in acute care setting, targeted fall prevention interventions, fall-risk assessments, fall prevention, Morse Fall Scale

Implementation of Best Practices for Fall Prevention in a Community Hospital

Hospitalized patients are a vulnerable population for experiencing a fall. The rate
of patient falls resulting in injury while in the acute care setting is a major safety concern
that may affect a hospital's accreditation and reimbursement. There is an expectation that
hospitals are to keep patients safe from further complications and injuries during
hospitalization. The Joint Commission's (2013) National Patient Safety Goal 9 (NPSG)
requires the implementation of a Fall Reduction Program, and states that "a fall reduction
program must include a risk assessment of individual patients and the environment of
care to reduce the risk of patient harm resulting from falls" (para. 4). The American
Nurses Association views the incidence of falls as a nursing quality indicator that has
linked nursing interventions to patient outcomes (American Nurses Association, 2010).
Despite fall prevention efforts by nurses, there continues to be a problem with patient
falls occurring at a high rate in the acute care setting (Tzeng, Hu, & Yin, 2011). This
study addressed the implementation of a new fall risk program. The program was

Background and Significance

implemented over three phases to include planning, implementation and evaluation.

While hospitalized, approximately 3-20% of inpatients slip and fall, and an estimated 11,000 fall-related deaths occur annually (Centers for Disease Control, 2009). Fractures, hematomas, traumatic brain injuries, and deaths are some of the unintentional outcomes from fall injuries that increase morbidity and mortality rates. Fall-related injuries have been show to increase patient length of stay by an average of 6.3 days (The Joint Commission, 2013). Patient falls cost hospitals on average \$17,500 per fall-related injury. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) limits reimbursement for

falls resulting in injuries, and many of the costs associated with inpatient falls become the financial responsibility of the hospital (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2009).

The incidence rates of hospital falls have been reported to range from 1.3 to 8.9 per 1,000 patient days (National Quality Measures, 2012). Research has shown that lack of risk identification and lack of implementation of effective fall-risk measures are major causes of inpatient falls (Nassar, Helou, & Madi, 2013; Yoon Sook & Smi, 2013; Zuyev, Benoit, Chang, & Dykes, 2011). The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services require hospitals to report patients' existing conditions upon admission (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2009). The Joint Commission's (2013) National Patient Safety Goal 9 requires hospitals to use valid and reliable fall-risk assessment tools as a guideline for identifying existing fall-risks upon patient's admission to the hospital, and plan interventions to address those risks.

Setting

The setting for this evidence-based translational project is a rural community hospital in southeast Georgia. Two 22-bed medical/surgical units were included in the study. The community hospital has approximately 630 admissions monthly. The hospital administration and Fall Committee members immediately sought to improve the fall prevention program after a survey visit from The Joint Commission that identified issues with the current program. These issues included the utilization of an unreliable fall-risk assessment tool, lack of documentation of an effective fall prevention care plan, and concern about the rate of falls and injuries resulting from falls that occurred mainly on the medical and surgical units.

History of Fall Prevention Practice

In the past, the hospital used a computerized fall-risk assessment tool developed by the hospitals' Fall Committee. The tool utilized a combination of screening methods. Nurses completed fall-risk assessments only upon admission. The patient was considered a fall-risk only if the fall-risk score was ≥ 5 . For example, a patient with a history of falls in the last three months, or a patient older than 65 would score higher than five and therefore was identified as a fall-risk.

With the previous Fall Prevention Program, interventions for anyone on fall precautions were the same. These interventions included hourly rounds to patient rooms, validating that the call light was in reach, maintaining beds in the lowest position, and turning on bed alarms on all beds at bedtime. The patient would wear yellow socks, and a yellow fall-risk armband; also, a yellow fall-risk sign was placed on the door. No interventions were targeted to the patient's specific identified fall-risk, interventions were the same regardless of patients' fall-risk or total fall score.

Need for Project

The community hospital identified a need to make changes to the Fall Prevention Program after a survey visit by The Joint Commission. The hospital did not meet the Joint Commissions' National Patient Safety Goal 9 expectation of using a valid fall-risk assessment tool to identify patients at-risk for falls, decrease the rate of falls, or to decrease the number of falls resulting in injury.

This translational project was implemented with the support of the Fall Prevention Committee in order to decrease the rate of falls, and comply with the Joint Commission's recommendations. Best practices for identifying patients at-risk for falls were identified, and the results were presented to the committee. These best practices include implementing use of a valid fall-risk assessment instrument with targeted interventions.

Challenges and Opportunities of the Project

The researcher was challenged to find a valid and reliable fall-risk assessment tool that fit the facility needs and a process to integrate the fall prevention program into the Paragon Electronic Medical Record (EMR). The researcher worked with the hospitals' Information Technology and Education Department to create a seamless transition to the new Fall Prevention program by defaulting targeted fall prevention interventions into the Paragon EMR. The Paragon EMR has the capability of defaulting interventions based on identified fall-risks selected by the nurse using the Morse Fall Scale. The use of the EMR made it easier for the nurses to learn the new fall risk program.

Decreasing the fall rate less than 1.4 per 1,000 patient days was another challenge for the researcher. Since the medical and surgical units had the highest patient fall rates and most severe injuries from falls in the facility, the primary strategy for evaluating the effectiveness of the program focused on patients admitted to the medical and surgical units. The new Fall Prevention Program provided an opportunity to improve patient outcomes in fall-risk patients by decreasing fall rates, decreasing the rate of fall-related injuries, and improving inter-departmental and multidisciplinary care of fall-risk patients in the acute care setting.

Project Purpose

The purpose of this translational project was to implement an evidence-based fall prevention program based on the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions to decrease fall rates in a community hospital. Although the hospital's fall rate was low, hospital

administration wanted to lower it further. The hospital administration anticipated that this project would address the problem with falls on the medical and surgical units.

Clinical Questions

The clinical questions for this study are:

- 1. What is the effectiveness of the educational intervention in increasing nurses' knowledge of the fall risk program?
- 2. What is the compliance rate with the fall risk program at 2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks after the Morse Fall Scale with targeted fall prevention education sessions?
- 3. Does the implementation of the Morse Fall Scale paired with targeted fall prevention interventions result in a decreased rate of falls?

Theoretical Framework

Implementation of the hospital's new fall-risk program was expected to involve challenges. The Rogers' Diffusion of Innovation Theory was used to manage those challenges because the theory conceptualizes how new ideas are implemented and adopted by people in various specialties (Rogers, 1995). Rogers refers to "the process in which an innovation is communicated through certain channels over time among the members of a social system," and he asserts that "diffusion is a special type of communication process concerned with how new ideas are perceived," (Rogers, 1995, p. 5). Rogers' five phases of the innovation process were applied when introducing the new fall prevention program, which was built around the Morse Fall Scale. According to Rogers (1995), the five phases of innovation are the following:

Knowledge—the awareness of the innovation's functions are understood.

- Persuasion—a positive or a negative attitude about the innovation is formed.
- Decision—the engagement or the lack of engagement in the process leads to the innovation's acceptance or rejection.
- Implementation—the innovation is employed and the determination of its effectiveness is obtained.
- Confirmation—the evaluation of the innovation's outcomes confirms the right decision was made and finalizes the decision to continue the innovation.

In applying Rogers' Diffusion of Innovation Theory to this project, provision of educational sessions began the knowledge phase according to Rogers' Theory (Rogers, 1995). Nurses' knowledge about the Morse Fall Scale (MFS) and how to target fall prevention interventions was crucial for the successful implementation of this innovation (Rogers, 1995). Evidence-based research regarding the advantages of the new fall prevention program was used as the persuasion phase of the project. Rogers found that variables in the nurses' personalities and experiences could influence this stage (Rogers, 1995).

Readiness of the nursing staff to begin the implementation of the new fall prevention program was important during the decision stage. The hospital was on a time constraint with the expectation of a return visit from The Joint Commission; therefore, a quick acceptance and decision to implement the new fall prevention program was imperative. The electronic health record monitored nurses' documentation and implementation of the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions using the Nursing Fall

Risk Management Audit Tool. During the confirmation stage, comparing the historical fall rate gathered from the previous 12 months to the fall rate at one month and two month periods after the implementation of the fall risk program was planned to evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention. The reduction in the fall incidence rate would necessitate the adoption of the new fall prevention program. An increase in fall incidence rates could result in a decision to initiate more education sessions or to re-design the fall prevention program. Utilizing the phases in the Rogers' Diffusion of Innovation Theory as the theoretical framework guided the steps of implementation and evaluation of this projects' fall prevention program.

Review of Literature

A literature search was conducted to identify the best practices for decreasing falls in the inpatient setting. Keywords used were fall and acute care setting, fall prevention interventions and acute care setting, fall-risk assessments and acute care setting, fall prevention and acute care setting, and Morse Fall Scale and targeted interventions. A total of 2,201 citations were retrieved using the PubMed, CINAHL, and Medline databases. Citations excluded were 1,086 due to duplication and 1,061 studies that were not full-text, not related to the topic, or scholarly peer review journals. Fifty-six articles were identified that provided strong evidence on fall risk assessments, fall prevention interventions, targeting fall prevention interventions and best fall prevention practices to support measures to decrease falls. These articles included 5 systematic reviews, 17 randomized control trials, 13 quasi-experimental studies, and 2 qualitative studies. This review of literature will discuss various patient fall-risks, environmental risks, and variations in recommended interventions.

Why Do Patients Fall?

Patient's slip and fall due to a variety of reasons while hospitalized. Although the reasons for falls vary, there are trends in the literature of common fall-risks found in patients that have experienced falls (Abreu, Mendes, Monteiro, & Santos, 2012; Laktos et al., 2009; Morse, Tylko, & Dixon, 1987).

Tzeng and Yin (2010) conducted a study in six adult acute care units and found that patients who had mental status deficits (MSD), such as cognitive impairments, confusion, or dementia, were themselves the major cause of 34% of the falls, due to their inability to follow instructions. A significant number of patients who were presenting with MSD in the acute care setting included patients who were ≥65 years of age, had a history of falls, and suffered severe injuries from their falls. Results from one study found that 1,815 medical, surgical, oncology, or critical care patients were identified as having internal (intrinsic) and environmental (extrinsic) risk factors (Nassar et al., 2013). Although nurses used their clinical assessment skills to assess patients fall-risks at the time of admission, Nassar and colleagues found that patients using antiepileptic drugs and mobility assistive devices had a higher incidence of falls, stressing the importance of reassessing fall-risk for changes during hospitalization, as a patient's condition or risk factors change (Nassar et al., 2013).

Risk factors for inpatient falls, include a mean age of 65, history of falls, use of ambulatory aids, intravenous (IV)/heplock therapy, altered mental status, secondary diagnoses, and medication side effects (Salarvand, Meraci, Ghaedi, & Zamani, 2010). Patients with secondary diagnosis secondary diagnosis are at increased risk for falls (Swartzell, Fulton, & Friesth, 2013). When patients with secondary diagnosis were not

identified as a high fall risk, 44% of them experienced a fall. The factors that contribute to falls are complex and interrelated. Patients are more at-risk to fall while hospitalized due to acute illnesses, secondary diagnosis, certain medications, and being in a new environment (Shever, Titler, Mackin, & Kueny, 2011). According to the research, fall-risk scores are related to the rate of falls, thus, it is an important skill for nurses to learn how to accurately identify patients that are prone to falling (Chapman, Bachand, & HyrkÄS, 2011).

In Korea, when 147 patients who fell were compared to 147 patients who did not fall, the researcher found that the patients who fell had higher fall-risk scores using the Morse Fall Scale upon admission than patients who did not fall (Yoon Sook & Smi, 2013). Differences in fall-risk factors, such as visual disturbances, pain, elimination issues, and emotional disturbances, are other characteristics found in patients that are prone to falling (Yoon Sook & Smi, 2013).

Risk-factors for falls may be categorized into intrinsic and extrinsic factors.

Intrinsic factors originate within the body (medication use, muscle weakness, visual disturbances, balance and gait abnormalities, advanced age, cognitive impairment, existence of one or more secondary diagnosis), and extrinsic factors originates outside the body (improper lighting, ambulating without assistance or assistive devices, restraint use) patient risk factors are measured by fall-risk assessment tools producing a fall-risk score (Choi et al., 2011).

Intrinsic conditions, such as confusion, gait imbalances, and agitation are major risk factors that lead to the patients' accidental falls (Abreu et al., 2012). Extrinsic conditions such as poor lighting, clutter, trip and slip hazards, staff shortages and

equipment malfunction also contribute to patient falls (Miake-Lye, Hempel, Ganz, & Shekelle, 2013).

Measures to Assess Fall-risk

While it may not be possible to totally eliminate falls in the inpatient setting, falls may be reduced through measures put in place to assess risks for falls using valid and reliable fall-risk assessments of patients and their environments (Choi, Lawler, Boenecke, Ponatoski, & Zimring, 2011). When deciding which fall-risk assessment tool to use in assessing patient fall-risks, the instrument that has the highest specificity and sensitivity in detecting fall-risk would be the best choice (Boyé et al., 2013; Choi et al., 2011; Rowe, 2013; Wexler et al., 2011).

A valid and reliable fall-risk assessment tool is required to meet the Joint Commission's patient safety standard that states, "Reduce the risk of patient harm resulting from falls, using a valid fall-risk assessment at the time of admission" (The Joint Commission International, 2010). However, finding a tool that can identify patients at-risk for falls in the hospital setting may be challenging.

The Morse Fall Scale (MFS), the St. Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling (STRATIFY), and the Hendrich II Falls Risk Model (HIIFRM) are the top three fall-risk assessment tools found in the literature used in the hospital settings (Boyé et al., 2013; Healey, 2010; Morse et al., 1987; Shever et al., 2011; Swartzell et al., 2013). The MFS (see Appendix A) is a six-item index tool with weighted scores (0 to 125), and a reported sensitivity of 79% and specificity of 82% (Morse, Morse, & Tylko, 1989). The MFS has been used successfully in a variety of community hospital settings (Boyé et al., 2013; Morse, 2006). Yoon Sook and Smi's (2013) identified the effectiveness of the Morse Fall

Scale on identifying falls among hospitalized inpatients. STRATIFY, frequently used on the older adults in an acute care setting, includes five factors, with a reported sensitivity of 93% and specificity of 68% (Oliver, Healey, & Haines, 2010). STRATIFY was found to be effective in predicting falls in the elderly and in long-term facility settings (Billington, Fahey, & Galvin, 2012; Oliver et al., 2010). HIIFRM has seven weighted items, with a reported sensitivity of 77% and specificity of 72% (Hendrich, Bender, & Nyhuis, 2003). Large education hospitals found the HIIFRM to be very effective (Ang et al., 2011). The sensitivity and specificity measurements aid researchers in determining the predictive value of the fall-risk assessment tool.

Literature on the various fall-risk assessment tools stresses the importance of evaluating the population, clinical setting, and tool specificity when determining which tool would be most appropriate to implement in a fall prevention program (Aranda-Gallardo et al., 2013; Baek, Piao, Jin, & Lee, 2013; Billington et al., 2012; Chapman et al., 2011). The MFS was developed through rigorous research methods and has shown its usability with the electronic medical record on medical and surgical units (Baek et al., 2013; Morse, 2009; Morse et al., 1989; Morse et al., 1987; Sung et al., 2013). By using the MFS, hospitals are permitted to calibrate the scale so that fall prevention interventions are aimed toward patients most at risk (José Martins da Costa-Dias, Martins, & Araújo, 2014).

Fall Prevention Interventions

Common fall prevention interventions include using bed alarms, lowering patients' beds, keeping patients' call lights within their reach, recommending sitters to families, rounding in patient rooms, using restraints, and keeping the at-risk patient near

the nurses' station. However, there are gaps in the research related to which interventions achieve the best fall prevention outcomes (Shever et al., 2011). Interventions are categorized as addressing either intrinsic or extrinsic reasons for falls. Several researchers recommend individualizing the interventions to the intrinsic and extrinsic categories in order to meet the patient's specific intervention needs (Ang et al., 2011; Dykes, 2012).

Pharmaceutical Interventions. Patients receiving multiple medications, including medications given intravenously, could be at an increased risk for fall due to the medication's side effects. Pharmaceutical interventions such as daily medication reviews and modifications may reduce falls by over 40% (Choi et al., 2011). Research has shown that the best pharmaceutical interventions are (1) listing medications that have side effects associated with dizziness or drowsiness, (2) educating patients and nursing personnel about medication related falls, and (3) communicating with pharmacists and doctors about daily updates (Graham, 2012). Literature indicates that visual signals like fall-risk identification bracelets and employing technological interventions like using call bells, bed alarms, and maintaining beds in low position combined with nurses going in patients' rooms prevents falls related to medication side effects (Choi et al., 2011; Graham, 2012; Healey, 2010; Oliver et al., 2010). Toileting interventions may be necessary for patients taking medications, which increase urinary frequency. The implementation of a bladder or bowel program, use of a bedside commode, or keeping the patient's urinal or bedpan within reach may decrease falls (Tzeng & Yin, 2010).

Balance and Gait Interventions. Physical therapy interventions have been shown to be effective in preventing falls for patients who receive balance exercises and gait training (Tousignant et al., 2012). However, research findings suggest that physical

therapy is more effective when implemented along with other interventions, such as the use of assistive devices, wearing glasses or hearing aids, putting beds in the low position, uncluttering the room, assisting the patient when out of bed, and using non-slip footwear (Choi et al., 2011; Naqvi, Lee, & Fields, 2009; Rowe, 2013; Tousignant et al., 2012). Literature also suggests that Vitamin D is an effective intervention to reduce the risk of falls in patients with gait impairment due to muscle weakness (Muir & Montero-Odasso, 2011).

Cognitive Impairment Interventions. Inpatients with cognitive impairment (CI) or altered mental status are prone to falls, injury from falls longer lengths of stay, and other hospital-acquired complications (Boustani et al., 2012). The early recognition of altered mental status or impaired cognition is a very important intervention strategy for reducing fall-risk (Quinn & Horgan, 2013). Patients with cognitive impairments have problems with recognizing their own limitations and capabilities, and have faulty judgment. However, a proper mental status examination should detect cognitive impairments (Quinn & Horgan, 2013). Research recommends reviewing the patient's medications for drugs that would further impair cognition (Boustani et al., 2012; Lamis, Kramer, Hale, Zackula, & Berg, 2012). Some interventions - such as using sitters, placing patients closer to the nurses station, using fall-risk signage, rounding frequently in the patient's room, providing bed and chair alarms, and using bedrails are more effective than the use of physical or chemical restraints to decrease the risk of falls in the cognitively impaired inpatient (Boustani et al., 2012; Healey, 2010; Lakatos et al., 2009; Shorr et al., 2012).

Secondary Diagnosis. Secondary diagnosis is a disorder or disease that may exist with a primary disease or disorder and is considered a co-morbidity due to the effect of additional disorders or diseases on patients (Morse, 1989). Secondary diagnosis, such as heart failure, post-stroke, diabetes, pain, and dementia, increase the risk of fall for patients already impaired by other factors (Kuys, van der Ham, Hwang, Adsett, & Mandrusiak, 2013; Schmid et al., 2013). Literature suggests that patients with secondary diagnoses, like congestive heart failure for instance, may have medical conditions that affect muscle strength, gait, cognition, and are more likely than other patients to be exposed to medical issues related to polypharmacy (Jones & Whitaker, 2011; Schmid et al., 2013). Upon admission, it is important to identify patients with secondary diagnoses as being at increased risk for falls (Kuys et al., 2013).

History of Falling. When patients report a history of falls, it is important to identify the factors that led to the previous falls in order to target interventions and prevent recurrent falls (Jones & Whitaker, 2011). One study found a relationship between a patient's history of falls and an 85% prediction that a future fall is likely to recur without targeting interventions toward fall-risks that previously and currently existed (Greany, 2010). It is important that the multidisciplinary team is aware of the predisposing factors of the patient's fall history so that all members of the team may be informed to avoid fall triggers, and to use targeted interventions to decrease fall-risk (Greany, 2010).

Environmental Assessment and Ambulatory Aids. Research has shown that environmental factors such as cluttered rooms, rooms that are not well lit, beds left in a high position, ambulatory aids not left within the patient reach and medical equipment

left in the pathway to the restroom can result in falls (Choi, et al., 2011; Graham, 2012). Nursing interventions such as using night lights, making rounds to patient rooms to assess the environment for safety hazards and unclutter the patient's room, using fall-risk signage, adjusting beds to the lowest position, remove medical equipment out of walking paths have shown to be effective (Choi, et al., 2011; Graham, 2012).

Environmental modifications to fit individual fall prevention needs include incorporating grab bars in the bathroom and use of mobility assistive devices in the acute care setting (Graham, 2012). It is important to make sure that assistive devices are within comfortable reach of the patient. It is also important that assistive devices are in working order prior to use in order for environmental interventions to be effective in reducing fall-risk.

Nursing Expertise and Fall Prevention

Challenges that nurses have identified with fall prevention programs include finding effective ways to identify patients at-risk for falls and implementing fall prevention strategies that will keep patients safe from falls during hospitalization (Rush et al., 2009). Nurses have exhibited different levels of skill in fall-risk assessment (Dempsey, 2009). Nurses with less skill at identifying fall-risk may put patients at higher risk for falls. Nurses' fall- risk assessment knowledge and skills are crucial in identifying the elements that may or may not require appropriate nursing interventions, thus reducing the incidence and severity of falls. The adoption of a fall risk program will necessarily involve ensuring that nursing staff are educated about the fall assessment program and interventions.

Best Practices for Fall Prevention

When patients are identified as at-risk for falls, healthcare facilities implement measures to minimize this risk. While some facilities apply a given set of interventions to all patients at-risk for falls, research supports that interventions targeted to specific fall-risk factors are more effective (Ang, Mordiffi, & Wong, 2011). Where fall prevention interventions may be implemented on any patient identified as a fall risk, targeted interventions are implemented according to each fall-risk identified from a valid fall-risk assessment tool. Falls may be reduced up to 31% by implementing multifactorial targeted fall prevention interventions on fall-risks identified by a fall-risk assessment tool (Choi et al., 2011).

Research literature supports the use of a valid and reliable fall risk assessment instrument combined with targeted interventions to reduce inpatient falls (Aranda-Gallardo et al., 2013; Rush et al., 2009). Fall-risk scores are based on the clinical assessment skills that nurses use to assess intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors for falls. Implementing a targeted fall prevention program is more effective when nurses' knowledge is increased on the proper use of the fall-risk assessment tool and targeted interventions to be utilized (Koh, Hafizah, Lee, Loo, & Muthu, 2009).

Implementing targeted interventions is different than implementing universal fall precautions. Ganz et al. (2013) define universal fall precautions as fall prevention interventions that are implemented regardless of specific fall-risk to prevent falls. Variations in the implementation of universal fall precautions result in inconsistencies in methods used to identify fall-risk patients, and in the use of effective fall prevention interventions (Ganz, Huang, Saliba, & Shier, 2013). Common universal fall precautions

include conducting hourly rounds in patient rooms; using bed alarms; maintaining beds in low position; and using fall-risk indicators on patient's armbands and room doors to queue staff to patients' fall-risk (Ganz et al., 2013; Shever et al., 2011). A good fall-risk assessment tool identifies the patient's risk factors resulting in an individualized number that gives the nurse a specific patient's fall-risk score (Morse, Morse & Tylko, 1989; Morse, 2009). Researchers found that failure to use a valid and reliable fall risk assessment tool with targeted interventions resulted in poorer patient outcomes (Shever et al., 2011).

One randomized control trial with 1,822 participants examined the effectiveness of targeted interventions to reduce the fall rate. The control group (n=912) received universal fall precautions and the intervention group (n=910) received targeted multiple interventions. The fall incidence rates were 1.5% in the control group and 0.4% for the intervention group. Implementing multiple targeted interventions was found to be effective in reducing the incidence of falls in the acute care setting (Ang et al., 2011). Day (2013) found that multiple targeted interventions were more effective in decreasing falls than a single intervention, and that interventions should be customized to meet the individual's fall-risk need. Another randomized controlled trial in Asia with 266 participants measured the effect of multiple targeted interventions on the fall rate, and found that targeted interventions alone reduced the fall rate but not the fall-risk. This study further validated the use of a valid and reliable fall-risk assessment tool used with targeted interventions (Pey et al., 2014). A systematic review and meta-analysis of 18 papers reporting 17 randomized controlled trials found evidence that targeted interventions tailored to patient's fall-risks were effective at decreasing the fall rate and the fall-risk if multiple interventions are used. This approach should be considered as a best practice model (Goodwin et al., 2014).

The best practices for preventing falls in the acute care setting are using targeted fall prevention interventions identified by a valid and reliable fall-risk assessment tool (da Costa-Dias & Lopes Ferreira, 2014; McFarlane-Kolb, 2004; The Joint Commission, 2013). The Morse Fall Scale was found to be a reliable and valid fall-risk assessment tool (Aranda-Gallardo et al., 2013; Back et al., 2013; Chapman et al., 2011). Fall-risk assessments should be performed not only at the time of hospital admission but as changes in the hospitalized patient occurs (Aranda-Gallardo et al., 2013). Otherwise, changes in a patient's fall-risk may be overlooked. Once fall-risk factors are identified, multiple interventions are effective when targeted at the specific fall-risk factor (Ang et al., 2011; Dykes, 2012; Russell et al., 2010). Studies that have used a fall-risk assessment tool like the Morse Fall Scale, along with targeted interventions, found targeting interventions to specific fall-risks as the best practice for managing falls in hospitalized patients (Morse, 2009; Shever et al., 2011; Yoon Sook & Smi, 2013).

Summary

A review of the literature found support for using valid and reliable fall risk assessments. Fall risk assessments aid in planning fall prevention interventions to address the fall-risk factors resulting in a decreased incidence of falls. The results from the fall-risk assessment could be used to identify which specific fall prevention interventions are needed. A review of three common fall-risk assessments found the Morse Fall Scale to be more sensitive in addressing specific fall prevention needs in the community hospital setting. Research found 14 common interventions that were most effective in decreasing

falls, if targeted to the identified intrinsic and extrinsic fall-risks. Overall, the best practice for fall prevention is to combine a "valid and reliable" fall-risk assessment with targeted interventions.

Project Description

Setting

This translational project was conducted in a small community hospital in southeast Georgia between May 2014 and August 2014. The average daily census of the community hospital was 78 patients over the period of the study. This project was conducted on the medical and surgical units of the hospital. Each unit had 22 private rooms. In order to reduce falls, comply with the Joint Commission's requirements, and improve patient safety, the hospital's Fall Committee strategically planned to implement an evidence-based fall-risk program.

Design

This translational project included three phases. Phase 1 was the planning phase for the project. In Phase 1, a plan was developed to implement best practices to decrease falls based on the Morse Fall Assessment instrument with targeted interventions. Literature has found the Morse Fall Scale as having a 0.96 in reliability, 0.78 in sensitivity, and 0.8 in specificity (Rowe, 2013). The Morse Fall Scale has been identified as a valid and reliable fall-risk assessment tool in the literature (Back et al., 2013; Choi et al., 2011; Morse et al., 1989; Rowe, 2013). The Morse Fall Scale has six queries resulting in a total score of 0-125 based on the nurses' fall-risk assessment. The queries include:

- 1) history of falling (0 or 25);
- 2) secondary-diagnosis present on admission (0 or 15);

- 3) need of ambulatory aid (0, 15. or 30);
- 4) IV therapy (0 or 20);
- 5) type of gait (0,10, 20); and
- 6) assessment of mental status (0 or 15) (Morse et al., 1989).

Phase 1 also included coordination with the hospital's EMR department to include the new fall prevention program in the online documentation. The hospital used the Paragon computer system for their electronic medical records. During this phase, the Morse Fall Scale assessment with targeted interventions was built as a component into the database. When nurses selected assessment findings using the MFS in the Paragon EMR, fall-risk specific, targeted interventions menus would appear. Nurses would select appropriate interventions from the menu. These interventions would become a part of the plan of care. Policies were developed regarding proper use of the instrument.

In Phase 2, the fall prevention program was introduced to all hospital staff. Nurses were required to attend training implemented by the hospital's Education Department on the new fall prevention program using the Morse Fall Scale. The researcher educated nurses in June 2014 on the new Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions in small groups of 15 or less in six 30-minute class sessions. Nurses who attended the education sessions viewed an in-depth PowerPoint presentation on fall-risk screening and reassessment practices and Paragon EMR documentation. Nurses also received a self-learning packet with instructions on how to use the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions to re-enforce information learned during the educational session.

Nurses were given the opportunity to participate in the study. Participants signed informed consent forms (see Appendix C) for the study. Participants then completed the

demographic information and the pretest to measure their knowledge of the fall prevention program. Participants received the following: self-learning handouts with a pre-test, and a post-test, and documentation of multiple targeted interventions. After the educational session, participants completed the post-test. The fall-prevention program was implemented on the medical and surgical units two weeks after the completion of the educational sessions.

In Phase 3, compliance with the fall-risk program and the outcomes of the fall-risk program were measured. Compliance was monitored through random chart reviews and direct unit observation. Outcomes were measured through assessment of changes to the hospital's monthly fall rate. Charts and patient rooms were randomly selected during the two, four, six and eight week observation period to measure compliance. Depending on unit census, 10 to 20 charts and patient rooms were randomly selected and audited on each unit twice a week at the two, four, six and eight week intervals.

The researcher funded the project by paying for copy paper, food for the six educational sessions and the statistician fee. The facility made available office supplies, the copy machine and computer technology to the researcher. The researcher taught all of the intervention classes without any other personnel.

Participants

At the time of this study, the hospital employed 66 full-time and part-time medical and surgical nurses. On the surgical floor, there were 8 LPN's and 24 RN's. The medical floor consisted of 10 LPN's and 24 RN's. The medical and surgical nurses consisted of full-time and part-time staff that were cross-trained and scheduled to work both units. Medical and surgical nurses were educated on the hospital's Paragon

electronic medical record to learn online documentation of the new fall prevention program.

Nurses were required to attend the education session on the new fall prevention program using the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions. The researcher taught educational sessions over a three-day period. Six 30-minute classes were offered to all medical/surgical nurses employed full-time or part-time by the facility. Confidentiality was maintained by assigning a number to each informed consent form. The participants were instructed that test results would be matched with their participant number, and that only the researcher would know the identity of participants. Thirty-one nurses consented to participate in the study. In Phase 3 audits were implemented on random patient charts and patient rooms to assess for compliance with the fall prevention program. No patient identifiable data was collected.

Measurement Instruments

Measurements used in this study were created by the researcher. The instruments used in this study were the education pre- and post-test, demographic survey and the Fall Measures Audit Tool (FMAT). The FMAT (see Appendix D) was created by the researcher using the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions to measure compliance of fall risk program in the EMR and patient room observation.

Education Pre- and Post-test

In Phase 2, the pre- and post-test were constructed by the researcher with a structured questionnaire designed to identify nurses' knowledge of the fall prevention program. The pre-test and post-test was reviewed and assessed by experts in the field of nursing to assess usability, validity and reliability of the pre- and post-test. The experts in

the field of nursing consisted of four nurses, five nurse educators, and one nurse practitioner. To test the usability of the tests, the nurse experts took the tests and scored by the researcher. The experts in the field of nursing were asked to interpret the tests for readability, test administration methods, problems with interpretation of test questions or problems with researcher's scoring system. All of the panels of experts were able to complete the tests with ease without any recommendations.

The pre- and post-test was reviewed by a panel of nurse experts and determined to have content validity. The group of nurse experts took the pretest, attended the educational intervention, and took the post-test. As expected, scores on the post-test were improved indicating retained knowledge of the fall prevention program. The pre-test was used as baseline data to compare with that of the post-test to identify the effectiveness of the educational intervention. The pre-test and post-test asked the same 10 questions regarding the Morse Fall Scale along with targeted interventions. Questions on the pre-test and post-test ranged from multiple choice, fill-in-the-blanks, matching, and true or false. No partial points were given on items for either test. Each item on the pre-test and post-test was worth 10 points. A passing grade of 75 on the post-test did not require any remediation. Participants did not review the pre-test. Answers to the post-test were reviewed after grading the post-test. Following the post-test, remediation was provided to ensure nurses knowledge of the content.

Fall Measures Audit Tool

In Phase 3, to measure the compliance with the fall prevention program, the researcher developed an audit tool based on the fall prevention program, the Fall Measures Audit Tool (FMAT). The FMAT consisted of a chart audit component and a

compliance observation audit. The chart audit component was reviewed using the Paragon EMR. The compliance observation was completed based on unit observations. The FMAT is included in Appendix B.

Compliance with the fall-risk program was measured using the Fall Measures Audit Tool (FMAT) at two, four, six, and eight week intervals. Chart audits and room observations were conducted by randomly selecting a patient room number from an envelope with all of the room numbers. One envelope was made for the medical unit and another envelope for the surgical unit. Depending on unit census, 10 to 20 charts and patient rooms per unit were randomly selected for auditing twice a week at the two, four, six and eight week intervals. Confidentiality of both nurses and patients was maintained, as any patient or nurse identifiable information was not recorded and room numbers were not kept.

Chart audits evaluated compliance with the fall assessment and were only conducted on patients who had been admitted longer than 24 hours. Any chart that was randomly selected on a patient that did not meet this criterion was excluded. The hospital's fall-risk assessment policy required the nurse to initiate the fall-risk assessment on admission, and complete the assessment and care plan within 24-hours of admission. The chart audit also checked for identified patient fall-risk category, fall-risk score, active fall care plan, and at least two targeted interventions selected to be implemented per fall-risk from the defaulted list that the EMR provided.

The observation audit component of the FMAT tool listed all of the six fall-risk categories, and the list of possible selections for the targeted interventions that were defaulted into the Paragon EMR. Observation audits were rated as compliant if the

researcher could verify that a minimum of two selected targeted interventions had been implemented. Verification was either by observation or by verbal response from the patient.

Fall Rate Calculation

In Phase 3, effectiveness of the intervention was measured by comparing the historical fall rate to the fall rate at one-month and two-month periods after the implementation of the fall-risk program. The fall rate data was collected by the Fall Committee and provided to the researcher. Fall rate data included the entire hospital, which consisted of the surgical department, the medical department, the intensive care unit, the outpatient surgical department, the operating room, the recovery room, the emergency department, the pediatric department and the maternity and obstetrics department. The researcher used the measure defined by The Joint Commission to track fall rate by calculating the number of patient falls divided by the number of patient days multiplied by 1,000 (The Joint Commission, 2014). The Joint Commission refers to "bed days of care" as the total number of patient days to indicate the number of days that patients were occupying beds (The Joint Commission, 2014). For example, if the surgical unit has a census of 30 for 30-days, this is equivalent to 900 as the number of patient days. If this same unit had four falls in the last 30-days, the fall rate would be 4 divided by $900 \times 1,000 = 4.44$ falls per 1,000 patient days. The fall rate includes the actual number of patient falls, not the number of patients who experienced a fall, making the results more reflective of actual physical falls.

Data Collection

This study was approved by the Georgia College and State University

Institutional Review Board and the community hospitals' Chief Nursing Officer. This
translational project implemented best practices for reducing the rate of patient falls by
using a valid and reliable fall-risk assessment tool with targeted interventions on the
medical and surgical units of the community hospital. For this study, data was collected
in 2 phases.

In Phase 2, demographic data information was collected after informed consent from a convenience sample of medical and surgical nurses. The pre- and post-test collected data that measured the effect of the educational intervention on nurses' knowledge. In phase 3, the Falls Measure Audit Tool was used to collect data from random chart and patient room observations to determine compliance to the fall-risk program. No identifiable information was collected on nurse participants or patients. The Fall Committee collected data on the overall fall rate for the hospital.

Data Analysis

Data was analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 21.0. Demographic data collected from the participants in Phase 2 were analyzed to create percentages (see Table 1). The mean and standard deviation of scores were calculated for the participants' ages and years of nursing experience. Descriptive data from the demographic information on participants were gender, level of education, and assigned work unit. Any missing data during data analysis was disqualified and excluded from the study.

Paired-samples t-tests were used to assess differences between the pre- and post-test participant scores. The significance level of results was set at $\alpha \le 0.05$. The differences between the mean scores were ranked to identify differences between the mean scores. The lower the mean difference, the higher the statistical significance of an increase in knowledge the participants received after the education session. The paired t-test was conducted to test whether the differences were significant between the pre-intervention fall rate and the post-intervention fall rate. According to the calculation and evaluation of the paired t-test, the higher the t-score the findings were in validating if the education sessions were effective in increasing participant knowledge.

Raw data was collected from the FMAT. Data from the EMR and patient room observation audits were analyzed using percentages. Percentages were used to identify trends in the data. Paired-samples t-tests were also used to assess differences between the pre- and post-fall rates to determine if a difference existed between the fall rates before the intervention to the post-intervention. The significance level of results was set at $\alpha \le 0.05$. According to the calculation and evaluation of the paired t-test, the higher the t-score the more significant the findings were in validating if the implementation of the Morse Fall Scale paired with targeted fall prevention interventions result in a decreased rate of falls.

Congruence of Organization's Strategic Plan to Project

The mission of the hospital is to provide quality care and keep patients safe from hospital-acquired illness or injury. An essential component of quality care is preventing injury. The Joint Commission views fall management as a quality measure, and recommended that the hospital develop a Fall Prevention Program that utilizes a fall-risk

assessment to identify patient fall-risk resulting in a decrease in the rate of falls and fall-related injuries (The Joint Commission, 2013). The hospital's Chief Nursing Officer signed a statement of mutual agreement (see Appendix B). The Georgia College Institutional Review Board approved this study. Throughout the study, both researcher and organization ensured the project was congruent with the organizational values supporting patient safety and confidentiality.

In Phase 1 of the study, the hospital agreed to adopt the proposed fall prevention program. This included incorporating the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions to default in the Paragon computer system. Phase 2 of the study was an implementation phase. No personal information was obtained from the nurses or patient charts, the researcher signed a confidentiality statement that no patient information would be disseminated. In Phase 3, only observations of compliance were measured by the researcher looking at what fall prevention interventions were identified in the patient's care plan, and the researcher observed the patient's rooms to see if those same interventions identified in the care plan were being implemented. Patient charts and rooms were randomly selected by random drawings. During this phase, only fall rate data was retrospectively collected, and no collection of personal identifiable data was obtained or utilized.

Project Objectives

The objectives of this study were to:

 Develop and implement a fall prevention program based on the best available evidence.

- 2. Evaluate the effectiveness of the educational sessions on nurses' knowledge of fall prevention techniques before and after the fall prevention education sessions.
- Assess data on the hospital's fall rates before and after the implementation of the fall prevention program to evaluate the effectiveness of the program on decreasing patient falls.

Clinical Questions

The clinical research questions for this study are:

- Does the implementation of an educational intervention improve nurses' knowledge of the fall prevention program?
- 2. What is the compliance rate with the fall-risk program at 2, 4, 6, and 8-weeks after the implementation of the program?
- 3. Does the implementation of the Morse Fall Scale paired with targeted fall prevention interventions result in a decreased rate of falls?

Results

Phase 2

Participant Characteristics. In Phase 2, among the 66 medical and surgical nurses employed by the community hospital, 31 gave their informed consent to be included in the analysis of level of knowledge for the pre- and post-tests; they also volunteered to provide the researcher with demographic data. Medical and surgical nurses that did not sign the informed consent were excluded from the study. The educational interventions and participant data collection period took place in June 2014.

Demographic Data. Although all 66 nurses were cross-trained at the community hospital to work the medical and surgical units, of the 31 nurse participants, 58%

identified themselves as surgical nurses and 42% as medical nurses. Descriptive data statistics for age, years of nursing experience, and nurses' education level are summarized in Table 1. The demographic data provided a description of this study's population.

Pre-test and Post-test Scores. Results from the pre-test and post-test scores answer the first clinical question, "Does the implementation of the educational intervention improve nurses knowledge of the fall prevention program?" Means (with standard deviations in parenthesis) for pre-test and post-test were 72.58 (13.65), and 98.38 (4.54) respectively. The paired t-test results show the main effect of the intervention on knowledge level as statistically significant (see Table 2), t = 9.72, M = 25.8, SD 14.78, df 39, and p < .0001. The one-degree-of-freedom contrast of post-test primary interest (the mean difference between the pre-test and post-test) was also statistically significant at the specified $\alpha = 0.05$ level.

In reviewing the pre-test, scores were lower for knowledge on targeted interventions but were higher on how to complete the Morse Fall Scale. In reviewing the post-test scores, participant scores on targeted interventions had increased from the pre-test scores. Meanwhile, scores remained the same on how to complete the Morse Fall Scale. Nurses scored an average of 90 or higher on the post-test. There were no significant correlation noted in test scores among the nurse participants and their demographic data.

Phase 3

Fall Prevention Program Compliance. The Fall Measures Audit Tool (FMAT) results address the second clinical question, "What is the compliance rate with the fall-

risk program at two, four, six, and eight-weeks after the implementation of the program?" After review of 132 randomly selected charts and patient rooms over the eight-week period, percentages were used to identify trends in compliance (See Table 3).

At two-weeks, results from 23 audits data collected with the Fall Measures Audit Tool revealed at two-weeks that there were conducted on the medical and surgical units. There were 73.9% of all patients who were admitted more than 24-hours that had a fallrisk assessment completed on the EMR, and 26.09% did not. There were 86.96% of patients that were found to be at-risk for falls that had targeted fall prevention interventions implemented, and 13.04% that were not. At four-weeks, 39 audits found that 89.74% of all patients admitted more than 24 hours had a fall-risk assessment completed on the EMR, and 10.26% did not. There were 94.87% of patients found to be at-risk for falls who had targeted fall prevention interventions implemented and 5.13% did not. At six-weeks, 32 audits indicated 90.90% of all patients admitted more than 24 hours had a fall-risk assessment completed on the EMR and 9.09% did not. At six-weeks, 32 audits revealed 100% of patients found to be at-risk for falls who had targeted fall prevention interventions implemented. At eight-weeks, 38 audits revealed 100% of all patients admitted more than 24 hours had fall-risk assessments completed on the EMR and targeted fall prevention interventions implemented.

Overall, there were 88.63% of patients who had a fall-risk assessment completed on the EMR and 11.36% did not. There were 95.46% of patients that were found to be atrisk for falls that had targeted fall prevention interventions implemented, and 4.54% that were not. All of the 4.54% of fall-risk patients that did not have two or more targeted fall prevention interventions observed were those patients that had an intravenous (I.V.)

therapy fall-risk.

Fall Rate. Comparison of the historical fall rate to the post-implementation fall rate answers the clinical question, "Does the implementation of the Morse Fall Scale paired with targeted fall-prevention interventions result in a decreased rate of fall?" The average fall rate for the previous year (May 2013 - June 2014) prior to education sessions on using the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions averaged to be 1.4 per 1,000 patient days. The average fall rate for the period of July 2014 - August 2014 was 0.00 per 1,000 patient days.

Means (with standard deviations in parenthesis) for pre-fall and post-fall were 2.21 (1.18), and 0.00 (0.00) respectively. The paired t-test shows the main effect of the intervention on the fall rate as statistically significant (see Table 4), t = 6.97, M = 2.21, and p < .0001. Statistically significant $\alpha \le 0.05$ level. The average fall rate on the medical and surgical floor in July 2013 was 0.48, and in August 2013 was 2.95. The average fall rate during July 2014 and August 2014 after the implementation of this project, was 0.00 per 1,000 patient stay days.

Discussion

Falls are a threat to the safety of patients in the acute care setting. The impact of the Morse Fall Scale on identifying patients prone to falls has been well-documented (Baek et al., 2013; Morse et al., 1989; Salarvand et al., 2010; Sung et al., 2013). Literature revealed the importance of targeting interventions with fall-risk assessments in order to reduce patient fall-risks (Dykes, 2012; Ganz et al., 2013; Goodwin et al., 2014; Graham, 2012; Pey et al., 2014). The need for this change project was identified by the community hospitals' need for a new fall-risk program to decrease their fall rate.

The use of the Roger's Diffusion of Innovation Theory was useful as a guideline for implementing this change project. During the knowledge phase, education sessions were conducted on the fall-risk assessment program, including the Morse Fall-risk Assessment tool and the targeted interventions. The nursing staff gained understanding of how the scale functioned paired with the targeted fall prevention interventions as evidence by the comparison of the pre- and post-test scores. During the persuasion stage, evidence-of the nurses' attitudes about the new program was relevant in the compliance with the new program. Rogers indicated that variables in the nurses' personalities and experiences can impact this stage (Rogers, 1995).

During the decision stage the hospital was on a time constraint with the expectation of a return visit from The Joint Commission; therefore, the nurses' support for the program was essential to its success. During the implementation stage, nurses put into practice the new fall prevention program, compliance with the fall-risk program was observed and documented by the researcher at two, four, six and eight-weeks after the education classes using the FMAT. An increase in fall incidence rates could have resulted in a decision to initiate more education sessions, or to re-design the fall prevention program.

However in this study, an increase in pre- and post-test scores showed significant increase in nurse's knowledge of the fall-risk program after the educational intervention. This increase in knowledge may have contributed to this study's high rate of compliance in the identification of fall-risks with targeted interventions in the EMR and the observed implementation of targeted interventions selected in the EMR. Overall 88.63% of patients had a fall-risk assessment completed within 24-hours of admission in the EMR. Given the

negative patient safety consequences, it is unclear why 11.36% did not. It is uncertain whether a relationship exists between the pre- and post-test scores and non-compliance rates, or if any of the demographic variables, such as education level or years of experience had an effect.

Once the fall assessment was entered into the EMR, a list of interventions appeared that were specific to the type of fall risk the patient exhibited. Nurses selected at least two risk-specific interventions from this list, ensuring an individualized fall prevention plan for the patient.

The use of the EMR to automatically provide the targeted intervention list supported the high compliance rate of 95.56% with completing the fall risk assessment and plan of care. It is undetermined if the type of targeted interventions provided in the EMR had an effect on the 4.54% non-compliance. The rate of compliance and non-compliance may be affected by the scoring system of the Falls Measure Audit Tool, which required a minimum of two targeted interventions selected in the EMR and two interventions observed being implemented for each identified fall-risk.

Interestingly, the 4.54% of charts that were not compliant with the fall risk interventions consisted entirely of patients with I.V. therapy as their only identified fall risk. Patients with I.V. therapy as the only identified fall-risk resulted in a low fall-risk score; however, nurses did not follow the fall prevention program procedure for implementing two or more of the selected interventions for I.V. therapy. It is unclear why non-compliance occurred with IV therapy patients. A review of the instructional class content confirmed inclusion of this risk factor.

No data was collected to compare non-compliance with nurses' perceived barriers to implementing the fall-risk program, or issues related to implementing I.V. therapy fall prevention targeted interventions. As the fall-risk program progressed over the eight-week period, compliance rate improved each period. By the eighth week of implementing the program, compliance rates were at 100%. The non-compliance rates may be related to the nurses being novices in implementing the program, or it may be that behaviors improved due to the observed auditing by the nurses of the researcher for program compliance.

Methodological Assumptions

It was a methodological assumption that nurses understood the directions for the education sessions based on the pre- and post-test scores, and data was accurately calculated and entered into the SPSS program. Although the audit tool lacked established validity and reliability, it was assumed that the tool would measure compliance accurately.

Overall, when comparing the historic fall rate that was averaged over a 12-month period with the post-implementation fall rate at the time of the study, a significant decrease in fall rate occurred. The researcher included the historical fall rate of the medical and surgical units from the previous year with the post-implementation fall rate at the time of the study to support the statistical significance of the effect of the fall-risk program on decreasing the fall rate. With the costs of inpatient falls averaging \$17,500 per fall, this program may have saved the community hospital over \$100,000 by decreasing the rate of falls from an average of 3 falls per month or 1.4 per 1,000 patient days to 0.00 per 1,000 patient days. More information is needed to determine if a

difference in patients' secondary diagnoses, age, gender, or environmental conditions in this study's post intervention to post intervention period contributed to the fall rate results of this study.

Limitations

Despite the positive impact, there are some limitations in the generalizability of this project. Although the study adds to the growing body of knowledge on the use of fall-risk assessments with targeted interventions in the management of fall-risk patient populations, the sample sizes employed by this study in Phase 2 were small. The project was implemented in one small community hospital over a short period of eight-weeks, adding to the limitation of the study. While this project's results revealed positive outcomes, the possibility that medical and surgical nurses' compliance was monitored at two, four, six and eight-week intervals may have affected the outcomes.

Implications for Nursing

Nursing implications for future projects that test various fall-risk assessment tools with targeted interventions are needed to test effectiveness of using targeted interventions with other valid fall-risk assessments on fall rates. If targeting fall prevention interventions are found to be effective with other valid fall-risk assessment tools, alternate assessment tools could be used in a variety of settings. Since this project was conducted in a small community hospital, testing the effectiveness of this project in various health care and community settings would support its use in diverse settings.

Implications for Healthcare

In a fee-for service healthcare system, reducing the rate of falls and injuries related to falls reduces the impact on the cost of falls on healthcare. A decrease in fall rate

was the result of this transformational project. If using a valid fall-risk assessment tool with targeted interventions reduces fall rates implications for healthcare may result in lower costs of medical, labor and medical mal-practice costs.

Recommendations

Additional research is needed using the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions over an extended period. This projects' fall-prevention program was implemented in a community hospital setting. Researching the effectiveness of this projects' fall prevention program in a larger acute care setting may add to the reliability of this projects' results. Further research is needed to evaluate the cost effectiveness of the type of intervention implemented in this study.

Conclusion

Overall, use of a valid fall-risk assessment tool with targeted interventions was effective in reducing falls. The fall prevention program was developed to meet the Joint Commission's National Patient Safety Goal 9, in using a valid fall-risk assessment to decrease the fall rate and injuries related to falls. A follow-up visit by The Joint Commission after the implementation of this program resulted in approval of the fall risk program with no recommendations for improvement of the hospital's fall prevention program. The Joint Commission Center for Transforming Healthcare Preventing Falls with Injury recognizes and supports the use of targeted interventions with a valid fall-risk assessment to decrease fall rates through their new fall-risk project scheduled for release in 2015 (The Joint Commission, 2014).

To provide ongoing evaluation of the effectiveness of this project, the researcher recommends re-evaluation of the program at the community hospital after a 12-month

period. Researching and implementing best fall prevention practices contributed to the researcher's personal goals of becoming a change agent for best practice implementation.

References

- Abreu, C., Mendes, A., Monteiro, J., & Santos, F. (2012). Falls in hospital settings: a longitudinal study. Caídas en el medio hospitalario: un estudio longitudinal., 20(3), 597-603.
- American Nurses Association. (2010). National database of nursing quality indicators (NDNQI). from www.nursingquality.org/
- Ang, E., Mordiffi, S., & Wong, H. (2011). Evaluating the use of a targeted multiple intervention strategy in reducing patient falls in an acute care hospital: a randomized controlled trial.

 *Journal of Advanced Nursing, 67(9), 1984-1992. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05646.x
- Aranda-Gallardo, M., Morales-Asencio, J., Canca-Sanchez, J., Barrero-Sojo, S., Perez-Jimenez, C., Morales-Fernandez, A., & Mora-Banderas, A. (2013). Instruments for assessing the risk of falls in acute hospitalized patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 13(1), 1-15. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-13-122
- Baek, S., Piao, J., Jin, Y., & Lee, S. (2013). Validity of the Morse Fall Scale implemented in an electronic medical record system. *Journal Of Clinical Nursing*.
- Billington, J., Fahey, T., & Galvin, R. (2012). Diagnostic accuracy of the STRATIFY clinical prediction rule for falls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Family Practice*, 13, 76-76.
- Boustani, M., Campbell, N., Khan, B., Abernathy, G., Zawahiri, M., Campbell, T., & Callahan, C. (2012). Enhancing care for hospitalized older adults with cognitive impairment: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal Of General Internal Medicine*, 27(5), 561-567. doi: 10.1007/s11606-012-1994-8

- Boyé, N., Van Lieshout, E., Van Beeck, E., Hartholt, K., Van Der Cammen, T., & Patka, P. (2013). The impact of falls in the elderly. *Trauma*, 15(1), 29-35. doi: 10.1177/1460408612463145
- Centers for Disease Control. (2009). *HCAHPS fact sheet*. Baltimore: Center for Medicare & Medicaid Services.
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2009). Hospital acquired conditions. from www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/HospitalAcqCond/HospitalAcquiredConditions.html
- Chapman, J., Bachand, D., & HyrkÄS, K. (2011). Testing the sensitivity, specificity and feasibility of four falls risk assessment tools in a clinical setting. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 19(1), 133-142. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01218.x
- Choi, Y., Lawler, E., Boenecke, C., Ponatoski, E., & Zimring, C. (2011). Developing a multi-systemic fall prevention model, incorporating the physical environment, the care process and technology: a systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 67(12), 2501-2524. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05672.x
- da Costa-Dias, M., & Lopes Ferreira, P. (2014). Fall risk assessment tools. Escalas de evaluación del riesgo de caída., 4(2), 153-161. doi: 10.12707/RIII12145
- Day, L. (2013). Fall prevention programs for community-dwelling older people should primarily target a multifactorial intervention rather than exercise as a single intervention. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61(2), 284-285. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12095_3
- Dempsey, J. (2009). Nurses values, attitudes and behaviour related to falls prevention. *Journal Of Clinical Nursing*, 18(6), 838-848. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02687.x

- Dykes, P. (2012). Adding targeted multiple interventions to standard fall prevention interventions reduces falls in an acute care setting. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 15(4), 109.
- Ganz, D., Huang, C., Saliba, D., & Shier, V. (2013). Preventing falls in hospitals: a toolkit for improving quality of care. (13-0015-EF). Maryland: AHRQ.
- Goodwin, V., Abbott, R., Whear, R., Bethel, A., Ukoumunne, O., Thompson-Coon, J., & Stein, K. (2014). Multiple component interventions for preventing falls and fall-related injuries among older people: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Geriatrics*, 14, 15-15. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-14-15
- Graham, B. (2012). Examining evidence-based interventions to prevent inpatient falls. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 21(5), 267-270.
- Healey, F. (2010). A guide on how to prevent falls and injury in hospitals. *Nursing Older People*, 22(9), 16-22.
- Hendrich, A., Bender, P., & Nyhuis, A. (2003). Validation of Hendrich II fall risk model: a large concurrent case/control study of hospitalized patients. *Applied Nursing Research*, 16, 9-21.
- Jones, D., & Whitaker, T. (2011). Preventing falls in older people: assessment and interventions.

 Nursing Standard, 25(52), 50.
- José Martins da Costa-Dias, M., Martins, T., & Araújo, F. (2014). Study of the cut-off point of the Morse Fall Scale (MFS). Estudo do ponto de corte da Escala de Quedas de Morse (MFS), 4(1), 63-72. doi: 10.12707/RIII13101
- Koh, S., Hafizah, N., Lee, J., Loo, Y., & Muthu, R. (2009). Impact of a fall prevention programme in acute hospital settings in Singapore. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 50(4), 425-432.

- Kuys, S., van der Ham, E., Hwang, R., Adsett, J., & Mandrusiak, A. (2013). Falls and musculoskeletal pain in older adults with chronic heart failure. *Cardiopulmonary Physical Therapy Journal*, 24(4), 12-33.
- Lakatos, B., Capasso, V., Mitchell, M., Kilroy, S., Lussier-Cushing, M., Sumner, L., & Stern, T. (2009). Falls in the general hospital: association with delirium, advanced age, and specific surgical procedures. *Psychosomatics*, 50(3), 218-226. doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.3.218
- Lamis, R., Kramer, J., Hale, L., Zackula, R., & Berg, G. (2012). Fall risk associated with inpatient medications. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 69(21), 1888-1894. doi: 10.2146/ajhp110723
- McFarlane-Kolb, H. (2004). Falls risk assessment, multitargeted interventions and the impact on hospital falls. *International Journal Of Nursing Practice*, 10(5), 199-206. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-172X.2004.00482.x
- Miake-Lye, I., Hempel, S., Ganz, D., & Shekelle, P. (2013). Inpatient fall prevention programs as a patient safety strategy. *Annals Of Internal Medicine*, 158, 390-396.
- Morse, J. (2006). The Modified Morse Fall Scale (Vol. 12).
- Morse, J. (2009). Preventing patient falls: Establishing a fall intervention program (2nd ed.).

 New York, N.Y.: Springer.
- Morse, J., Morse, R., & Tylko, S. (1989). Development of a scale to identify the fall-prone patient. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 8(4), 366-377. doi: 10.1017/S0714980800008576
- Morse, J., Tylko, S., & Dixon, H. (1987). Characteristics of the fall-prone patient *Gerontologist*, 27(4), 516.

- Muir, S., & Montero-Odasso, M. (2011). Effect of vitamin d supplementation on muscle strength, gait and balance in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(12), 2291-2300. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03733.x
- Naqvi, F., Lee, S., & Fields, S. (2009). An evidence-based review of the NICHE guideline for preventing falls in older adults in an acute care setting. *Geriatrics*, 64(3), 10-26.
- Nassar, N., Helou, N., & Madi, C. (2013). Predicting falls using two instruments (the Hendrich Fall Risk Model and the Morse Fall Scale) in an acute care setting in Lebanon. *Journal Of Clinical Nursing*.
- National Quality Measures. (2012). Acute care prevention of falls:rate of inpatient falls with injury per 1,000 patiet days. Retrieved 09152014, from http://www.qualitymeasures.ahrq.gov/content.aspz?id=36945
- Oliver, D., Healey, F., & Haines, T. (2010). Preventing falls and fall-related injuries in hospitals. Clinical Geriatric Medicine, 26, 645-692.
- Pey, J., Ee Ming, K., Chinna, K., Hill, K., Poi, P., & Maw Pin, T. (2014). An individually-tailored multifactorial intervention program for older fallers in a middle-income developing country: Malaysian Falls Assessment and Intervention Trial (MyFAIT). *BMC Geriatrics*, 14(1), 1.
- Quinn, P., & Horgan, F. (2013). Single- and dual-task assessments in elderly patients in a falls intervention programme. *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 20(11), 530-535.
- Rogers, E. (1995). Diffusion of Innovation (5 ed.). New York: The Free Press.

- Rowe, J. (2013). Preventing patient falls: What are the factors in hospital settings that help reduce and prevent inpatient falls? *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 25(3), 98.
- Rush, K., Robey-Williams, C., Patton, L., Chamberlain, D., Bendyk, H., & Sparks, T. (2009).

 Patient falls: acute care nurses' experiences. *Journal Of Clinical Nursing*, 18(3), 357-365.

 doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.02260.x
- Russell, M., Hill, K., Day, L., Blackberry, I., Schwartz, J., Giummarra, M., . . . Dharmage, S. (2010). A randomized controlled trial of a multifactorial falls prevention intervention for older fallers presenting to emergency departments. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 58(12), 2265-2274.
- Salarvand, S., Meraci, M., Ghaedi, F., & Zamani, M. (2010). Prediction of likelihood of ground falling in hospitalized old patients in Isfahan; by using Morse Fall Scale [Farsi]. Scientific Journal of Kurdistan University of Medical Sciences, 15(1), 8-8.
- Schmid, A., Klar Yaggi, H., Burrus, N., McClain, V., Austin, C., Ferguson, J., Bravata, D. (2013). Circumstances and consequences of falls among people with chronic stroke.

 *Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development, 50(9), 1277-1285.
- Shever, L., Titler, M., Mackin, M., & Kueny, A. (2011). Fall prevention practices in adult medical-surgical nursing units described by nurse managers. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 33(3), 385.
- Shorr, R., Chandler, A., Mion, L., Waters, T., Liu, M., Daniels, M., Miller, S. (2012). Effects of an intervention to increase bed alarm use to prevent falls in hospitalized patients: A cluster randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 157(10), 692-699.

- Sung, Y., Cho, M., Kwon, I., Jung, Y., Song, M., Kim, K., & Won, S. (2013). Evaluation of falls by inpatients in an acute care hospital in Korea using the Morse Fall Scale. *International Journal Of Nursing Practice*.
- Swann, J. (2014). Understanding multifactorial fall risks. *Nursing & Residential Care*, 16(7), 387-391.
- Swartzell, K., Fulton, J., & Friesth, B. (2013). Relationship between occurrence of falls and fall-risk scores in an acute care setting using the Hendrich II fall risk model. *MEDSURG*Nursing, 22(3), 180-187.
- The Joint Commission. (2013). The Joint Commission Joint Commission Perspectives, 33(7), 1.
- The Joint Commission International. (2010). TJCI Accreditation Standards for Hospitals. USA.
- Tousignant, M., Corriveau, H., Roy, P., Desrosiers, J., Dubuc, N., Hébert, R., Beaudoin, A. (2012). The effect of supervised Tai Chi intervention compared to a physiotherapy program on fall-related clinical outcomes: a randomized clinical trial. *Disability & Rehabilitation*, 34(3), 196-201.
- Tzeng, H., Hu, H., & Yin, C. (2011). The relationship of the hospital-acquired injurious fall rates with the quality profile of a hospital's care delivery and nursing staff patterns. *Nursing Economic\$*, 29(6), 299-316.
- Tzeng, H., & Yin, C. (2010). Nurses' response time to call lights and fall occurrences. MEDSURG Nursing, 19(5), 266-272.
- Wexler, S. S., D'Amico, C. O. N., Foster, N., Cataldo, K. A., Brody, P., & Huang, Z.-B. (2011).

 The Ruby Red Slipper Program: An Interdisciplinary Fall Management Program in a

 Community Academic Medical Center. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 20(3), 129-133.

- Yoon Sook, K., & Smi, C.-K. (2013). Fall Risk Factors and Fall Risk Assessment of Inpatients [Korean]. Korean Journal of Adult Nursing, 25(1), 74-82. doi: 10.7475/kjan.2013.25.1.74
- Zuyev, L., Benoit, A. N., Chang, F. Y., & Dykes, P. C. (2011). Tailored prevention of inpatient falls: development and usability testing of the fall TIPs toolkit. CIN: Computers,

 Informatics, Nursing, 29(2), 93-100. doi: 10.1097/NCN.0b013e3181f9dbe9

Appendix A

The Morse Fall Scale

Item	Item Score	Patient Score
1. History of falling (immediate or previous)	No 0	
	Yes 25	
2. Secondary diagnosis (≥ 2 medical diagnoses in chart)	No 0	
	Yes 15	<u>anamenta</u>
3. Ambulatory aid		
None/bedrest/nurse assist Crutches/cane/walker	0	
Furniture	15	
	30	
4. Intravenous therapy/heparin lock	No 0	
	Yes 20	Partitions
5. Gait		
Normal/bedrest/wheelchair	0	
Weak*	10	
Impaired [†]	20	
6. Mental status		
Oriented to own ability	0	
Overestimates/forgets limitations	15	
Total Score ^I : Tally the patient score and record.		
<25: Low risk		
25-45: Moderate risk		
>45: High risk		

Appendix B

Memorandum of Understanding

April 23, 2014

To Whom It May Concern,

Angela Jacobs, a DNP student at Georgia College and State University, has the approval of Coffee Regional Medical Center to implement her translational and clinical project between May and July 2014. The project, "implementation of Best Practices for Fall Prevention in a Community Hospital" will support our efforts to decrease the fall rate of patients on our medical/surgical nursing units. We understand the project will include the following:

- A teaching intervention on the new fall prevention program using the Morse Fall Scale with targeted fall prevention interventions, including a pre- and post-test for those nurses who volunteer for the study and sign the consent form.
- Random chart reviews and unit observation to measure compliance with the new fall
 prevention program over an 8-week period. To prevent HIPPA violations, no patient or nurse
 participant identifiable data will be collected.
- 3. Comparing fall rates over the past 12 months with fall rates 8 weeks after the education session intervention to measure the effect of the intervention on fall rate.

Sincerely,

Sherry Thomas RN

CRMC VP of Patient Care Services

number.

Appendix C

	* **
	Number
	Informed Consent
Research	Topic: Implementation of Best Practices for Fall Prevention in a Community Hospital
Principal	Investigator:
Georgia C 706-202-9	onkins-Jacobs MSN, R.N. College and State University, DNP Candidate 2754 cobs@bobcats.gcsu.edu
is being c	, agree to participate in the <i>Implementation of Best Practices for Fall Prevention in a Community Hospital</i> , which onducted by Angela Jenkins-Jacobs, who can be reached at 706-202-9754. I understand articipation is voluntary; I can withdraw my consent at any time. If I withdraw my my data will not be used as part of the study and will be destroyed.
The follo	wing points have been explained to me:
1. 2.	The purpose of this study is to improve the recognition and treatment of patients at risk for falls using the Morse Fall Scale with targeted fall prevention interventions. The procedures are as follows: you will be asked to:
	 a) Take a pre-test b) Attend a fall prevention education class on using the Morse Fall Scale with targeted interventions c) Take a post-test
3.	For this project, the researcher will:
	 a) Administer a pre and post-test with questions on using targeted fall prevention interventions on fall risks identified on the Morse Fall Scale. b) Assess the community hospital (research facility) fall risk score pre (for last 12 months) and post fall prevention education class (8 weeks after teaching how to use targeted interventions on fall risks that are identified using the Morse Fall Scale). These results will not be linked to your name or participant

c) Complete chart audits and observations from randomly selected room numbers (5-10 room numbers to be randomly drawn out of a jar daily, four

time periods at 2, 4, 6 and 8 weeks) to assess if fall risk procedures are

followed. These results will not be linked to your name or participant number.

- 4. You will not list your name on the pre or post- test data sheets. Therefore, the information gathered will be confidential.
- 5. You will be asked to sign two identical consent forms. You must return one form to the investigator before the study begins, and you may keep the other consent form for your records.
- 6. You may find that some questions are invasive and personal. If you become uncomfortable answering any questions, you may cease participation at that time.
- 7. You are not likely to experience physical, psychological, social, or legal risks beyond those ordinarily experienced in daily life or during the performance of routine examinations or tests by participating in this study.
- 8. Your individual responses and documentation will be confidential and will not be released in any identifiable form without your prior consent, unless required by law.
- 9. The investigator will answer any further questions about the research (see above telephone number).
- 10. In addition to the above, further information, including a full explanation of the purpose of this research, will be provided at the completion of the research project on request.

Signature of Investigator	Date
Signature of Participant	Date

Research at Georgia College & State University involving human participants is carried out under the oversight of the Institutional Review Board. Address questions or problems regarding these activities to Mr. Marc Cardinalli, Director of Legal Affairs, CBX 041, GCSU, (478) 445-2037

Appendix D

Fall Measures Audit Tool

Date_		
		Medical Record Audit for Morse Fall Scale Documentation
2. Is tl	he pation	ssessment completed within 24 hours of admission? Yes or No ent at risk for falls? Yes or No (If no, do not answer questions 3-6 at was the fall-risk score?
6. Wr	nat inter Pleas	ent have an active fall prevention care plan? Yes or No rventions were selected to target the fall-risks? e check yes or no for the fall-risk identified on the Morse Fall Scale, rventions selected in patient's care plan.
largo		History of Falling
Yes	No	Verbally inform patient and family of fall prevention interventions. Shift Report communicate the patient's "at risk" status. Collaborate with multi-disciplinary team members in planning care.
		Secondary Diagnosis (> 1 medical diagnoses in chart)
		Orient patient to surroundings and hospital routines Location of the bathroom pointed out to patient Patient instructed to call for help before getting out of bed.
		Ambulatory Aid
		Place ambulatory aid within reach of the patient Discuss ambulatory aid needs with patient Provide a commode at bedside (if appropriate). Urinal/bedpan should be within easy reach (if appropriate). Remove unnecessary equipment and furniture Ensure pathway to the bathroom is free of obstacles and is lighted. Consider placing patient in the bed that is close to the bathroom.

		Physical Therapy consulting with patient.
		Intravenous Therapy / Heparin (Saline) Lock
		Evaluate IV medications for potential side effects and discuss with patient, pharmacist, or physician
		Discuss peak effect that affects level of consciousness, gait, and elimination when planning patient's care with members of health team
		Patient on a bowel and/or bladder program Provide a commode at bedside (if appropriate). Urinal/bedpan should be within easy reach (if appropriate). Make "comfort" rounds every hour, toileting, and uncluttering room including IV equipment out of the pathway of the bathroom and I.V. pole positioned on side of bed closest to the bathroom ensures that patient is warm and dry).
		Gait Bed in low position with brakes locked, document number of side rails. Personal belongings within reach. Remove unnecessary equipment and furniture Ensure pathway to the bathroom is free of obstacles and is lighted. Consider placing patient in the bed that is close to the bathroom. Use a night light as appropriate. Physical Therapy consulting with patient Assist when out of bed
		Mental Status
		Bed in low position with brakes locked, document number of side rails. Patients left unattended in diagnostic or treatment areas. Patient placed in a room near the nursing station, for close observation, especially for the first 24–48 hours of admission.
		Patient has a safety alarm (bed alarm &/or pressure sensor alarm). Communicate the frequency of alarms each shift. If appropriate, consider using protection devices: hip protectors, a bedside mat, a "low bed" or a helmet.
		Make "comfort" rounds every hour and include change in position, toileting, offer fluids and ensure that patient is warm and dry.
		Talk with family regarding a sitter
	Dire	ect Observation for Targeted Interventions for Fall-risks Identified Using the Morse Fall Scale (2 or more observed interventions=compliance) History of Falling
Yes □	No . □	Verbally inform patient and family of fall prevention interventions.

	Shift Report communicate the patient's "at risk" status. Collaborate with multi-disciplinary team members in planning care.
	Secondary Diagnosis (> 1 medical diagnoses in chart)
	Orient patient to surroundings and hospital routines Location of the bathroom pointed out to patient Patient instructed to call for help before getting out of bed.
	Ambulatory Aid
	Place ambulatory aid within reach of the patient Discuss ambulatory aid needs with patient Provide a commode at bedside (if appropriate). Urinal/bedpan should be within easy reach (if appropriate). Remove unnecessary equipment and furniture Ensure pathway to the bathroom is free of obstacles and is lighted. Consider placing patient in the bed that is close to the bathroom. Physical Therapy consulting with patient.
	Intravenous Therapy / Heparin (Saline) Lock
	Evaluate IV medications for potential side effects and discussed with patient, pharmacist, or physician
	Discussed peak effect that affects level of consciousness, gait, and elimination when planning patient's care with members of health
	Patient on a bowel and/or bladder program Provide a commode at bedside (if appropriate). Urinal/bedpan should be within easy reach (if appropriate). Make "comfort" rounds every hour, offering (toileting and unclutter room including IV equipment out of the pathway of the bathroom and I.V. pole positioned on side of bed closest to the bathroom, ensure that patient is warm and dry).
	Gait
	Bed in low position with brakes locked, document number of side rails. Personal belongings within reach. Remove unnecessary equipment and furniture Ensure pathway to the bathroom is free of obstacles and is lighted. Consider placing patient in the bed that is close to the bathroom. Use a night light as appropriate. Physical Therapy consulting with patient Assist when out of bed

Mental Status

Bed in low position with brakes locked, document number of side rails.
Patients left unattended in diagnostic or treatment areas.
Patient placed in a room near the nursing station, for close observation,
especially for the first 24–48 hours of admission.
Patient has a safety alarm (bed alarm &/or pressure sensor alarm).
Communicate the frequency of alarms each shift.
If appropriate, consider using protection devices: hip protectors, a bedside
mat, a "low bed" or a helmet.
Make "comfort" rounds every hour and include change in position,
toileting, offer fluids and ensure that patient is warm and dry.
Talk with family regarding a sitter

Table 1

Demographic Characteristics of Participants in Phase 2

Variable ^a	M	Mdn	SD	Percentages
Age in years				
(Age ranges 25-71)	46	48	12.5	
Years of Experience				
(Ranges 0-42)	16	20	12.4	
Gender				
Male		1		3%
Female		30		97%
Education Level				
LPN		4		12%
ASN		16		52%
BSN		8		26%
MSN		3		10%
Acute Care Nurse Participants				
Unit		18		58%
Surgical		3		42%
Medical				

Note: ^a*n*=31

Table 2
Paired t-test Results of Pre-test and Post-test

Group	N	Mean	Mean Differences	t	df	Sig. (2- tailed)
Pre-test	31	72.58				
Post-test	31	98.38	25.806	9.721	30	.000

Note. The significance level was set at $\alpha \le 0.05$.

Table 3

Chart and Patient Room Audit Compliance Rates

n

23

39

32

38

Parameter

2 weeks

4 weeks

6 weeks

8 weeks

Fall-risk Targeted Completed in Intervention Chart Implemented 73.91% 86.96%

94.87%

100%

100%

Compliance Category

Note. n= number of audits completed. Percentages retrieved from data collected from the Fall Measures Audit Tool developed by the researcher.

89.74%

90.90%

100%

Table 4

Paire t-test Results of Pre- and Post-intervention Fall Rate

	N	Mean	t	df	Std	Sig. (2-tailed)	Fall Rate per 1,000 patient days
Pre-intervention	14	2.21	2.558	14	1.18	.023	1.4
Post-intervention	0	0	6.972	13	.000	.000	0.0

Note. Statistically significant $\alpha \le 0.05$ level. Pre-intervention fall rate averagred over a 12 month period. Post-intervention fall rate averaged over a two month period.